Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-4-2017

State v. Tryon Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44489

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Gracie Jean Tryon appeals from her conviction for possession of a controlled substance, following a jury trial. On appeal, Ms. Tryon asserts the district court erred when it permitted the admission of certain statements touching on the identity of the substance at issue, because that violated her constitutional right to confront the witnesses against her. Ms. Tryon also asserts the State did not present sufficient evidence to support her conviction for possession of a controlled substance.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State charged Ms. Tryon by Information with one count of possession of a controlled substance, felony, I.C. § 37-2731(c)(1), and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, misdemeanor, I.C. § 37-2734A. (R., pp.18-19.) Ms. Tryon entered a not guilty plea to the charges. (R., pp.20-21.)

The case proceeded to a two-day jury trial. (R., pp.44-67.) During the trial, Detective Matthew Richardson testified that, before changing police departments, he had worked for the Caldwell Police Department. (See Tr., p.127, L.7 – p.128, L.2.) He had been a detective in the street crimes unit (Tr., p.128, Ls.3-5), and had dealt with methamphetamine almost on a weekly basis, in approximately a hundred cases (Tr., p.130, L.24 – p.131, L.18). The detective testified he knew methamphetamine was "a white crystallized substance" through his training and experience. (Tr., p.168, Ls.6-9.) He had seen methamphetamine packaged in a few different ways, including in small baggies. (Tr., p.168, Ls.17-25.) One could inject methamphetamine with a syringe or smoke it with a glass pipe. (Tr., p.170, L.4 – p.171, L.6.)

Detective Richardson then testified that one evening he had been monitoring a residence in Caldwell for drug activity. (See Tr., p.173, L.6 – p.175, L.5.) He had been there previously to assist with misdemeanor probation home visits, and had encountered drugs or drug paraphernalia at the residence. (See Tr., p.175, Ls.9-20.) The detective saw a truck that had been parked outside the residence leave. (Tr., p.175, L.25 – p.176, L.13.) He followed the truck and saw it go through two stop signs without coming to a complete halt. (See Tr., p.176, L.14 – p.177, L.20.)

Detective Richardson testified he activated the emergency lights on his unmarked patrol vehicle and stopped the truck. (Tr., p.177, L.21 – p.178, L.13.) He contacted the driver of the truck, Carl Ringcamp. (See Tr., p.178, L.14 – p.179, L.9.) Ms. Tryon was the passenger in the truck. (Tr., p.179, Ls.12-14.) While talking to Mr. Ringcamp, Detective Richardson noticed a faint odor of marijuana coming from the truck. (Tr., p.180, Ls.8-12.) He had Mr. Ringcamp exit the truck, and spoke with him at the back of the truck. (Tr., p.180, Ls.13-16.) As a result of the conversation with Mr. Ringcamp, Detective Richardson placed him into custody and put him in the back of the patrol vehicle. (Tr., p.180, L.22 – p.181, L.3.)

The detective testified he then approached the passenger side of the truck. (Tr., p.181, Ls.7-9.) Another officer had arrived at the scene, and Ms. Tryon had left the truck. (See Tr., p.181, Ls.9-23.) Detective Richardson testified he overheard Ms. Tryon state she was not going to allow them to search her purse. (Tr., p.181, L.24 – p.182, L.1.) He spoke with her about the marijuana odor and a pipe that had possibly been left on the seat of the truck by Mr. Ringcamp. (See Tr., p.182, Ls.7-13.) The detective testified Ms. Tryon told him the pipe that had been left on the seat was in her pocket.

(See Tr., p.182, L.20 – p.183, L.4.) He found a cylinder pipe or e-cigarette on her person. (Tr., p.188, Ls.8-10.)

Detective Richardson testified he searched the truck. (See Tr., p.183, Ls.16-18.) He found a small coin purse containing some stems and a black residue in the passenger side panel door. (Tr., p.183, Ls.21-23.) On the floorboard on the passenger side was a large purse, with a black case on top. (Tr., p.183, L.23 – p.184, L.1.) Detective Richardson testified the purse was open and the black case was inside and on top of the items that were in the purse. (Tr., p.185, Ls.7-22.) He opened the black case and found a Crown Royal bag. (Tr., p.184, Ls.2-3.) The detective testified he found two hypodermic syringes and two glass pipes inside the Crown Royal bag. (Tr., p.184, Ls.3-4.) He further testified that the black case also contained a smaller blue plastic case, and inside the blue case was "a baggy containing a white crystallized substance." (Tr., p.184, Ls.4-8.)

Detective Richardson testified that, in his experience, he had found methamphetamine coupled with syringes or pipes about seventy-five to eighty percent of the time. (See Tr., p.191, Ls.18-23.) He testified the white crystalline substance looked akin to methamphetamine. (Tr., p.193, L.25 – p.194, L.5.)

The State, outside the presence of the jury, had told the district court it intended to ask Detective Richardson about statements made by Mr. Ringcamp. (*See* Tr., p.148, Ls.20-25.) The State had attempted to subpoena Mr. Ringcamp, but informed the district court, "[w]e haven't been able to get him here." (Tr., p.151, Ls.20-25.) Over Ms. Tryon's objection on the basis of her right to confrontation (*see* Tr., p.159, Ls.2-7), the district court permitted Detective Richardson to testify on Mr. Ringcamp's

statements touching on the identity of the substance (see Tr., p.160, Ls.11-15, p.166, Ls.16-19). The district court determined the statements were nontestimonial. (See Tr., p.160, Ls.11-15.) The detective testified that he asked Mr. Ringcamp "whose meth it was and he stated it wasn't hers," while Mr. Ringcamp was in the back of the patrol vehicle. (Tr., p.194, Ls.13-19.) According to Detective Richardson, Mr. Ringcamp "gave me a couple other responses as well. . . . He again said it wasn't hers. And then, he later said, 'it was mine. Okay.'" (Tr., p.195, Ls.12-17.)

On cross-examination, Detective Richardson testified Mr. Ringcamp had been arrested. (Tr., p.215, Ls.3-7.) He thought the pipe that was found on Ms. Tryon's person had been used to inhale marijuana. (See Tr., p.217, L.20 – p.218, L.9.) The detective testified he followed the truck for about three or four blocks before it pulled over, and Mr. Ringcamp had been in a position where he could have placed the black case on top of the purse. (See Tr., p.218, Ls.19-25.) He did not submit the glass pipes, syringes, or baggies for DNA testing or fingerprinting. (Tr., p.221, L.21 – p.22, L.25.) Detective Richardson also did not get a blood or urine sample from Ms. Tryon to see if she had methamphetamine in her system. (See Tr., p.224, Ls.16-22.) He testified that kosher salt and other substances could look like methamphetamine. (See Tr., p.230, Ls.12-22.) During redirect examination, Detective Richardson testified the substance at issue did not look like kosher salt, but looked like methamphetamine. (See Tr., p.232, L.21 – p.233, L.1.)

The State did not present any laboratory test results on the identity of the substance at issue.¹ (See Tr., p.234, Ls.23-25.) After the State rested, Ms. Tryon requested dismissal of the possession of a controlled substance count, under Idaho Criminal Rule 29 ("Rule 29"), for lack of sufficient evidence. (Tr., p.234, L.5 – p.236, L.6, p.240, Ls.9-12.) The district court denied her Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal, "finding that the State's evidence is not so insubstantial that jurors could not help but have a reasonable doubt as to the proof of that—of any elements." (Tr., p.241, L.16 – p.242, L.2.) Ms. Tryon did not testify in her defense. (See Tr., p.242, Ls.14-18.)

The jury found Ms. Tryon guilty on both counts. (R., pp.66-67; Tr., p.335, Ls.4-22.) For possession of a controlled substance, the district court imposed a unified sentence of four years, with one-and-one-half years fixed, suspended the sentence, and placed Ms. Tryon on probation for a period of three years.² (R., pp.88-91.)

Ms. Tryon then filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Judgment and Commitment and Order of Probation on Suspended Execution of Judgment. (R., pp.81-84.)

¹ The district court had sustained Ms. Tryon's objection to Detective Richardson's testimony on NARK presumptive tests. (See Tr., p.131, L.19 – p.132, L.3, p.147, L.2 – p.148, L.14.)

 $^{^2}$ For the paraphernalia count, the district court ordered Ms. Tryon to serve two days in jail, with credit for two days served. (R., p.80.)

ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err when it permitted the admission of Mr. Ringcamp's statements, because that violated Ms. Tryon's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against her?
- 2. Did the State present sufficient evidence to support Ms. Tryon's conviction for possession of a controlled substance?

ARGUMENT

Ι.

<u>The District Court Erred When It Permitted The Admission Of Mr. Ringcamp's</u> <u>Statements, Because That Violated Ms. Tryon's Constitutional Right To Confront The</u> <u>Witnesses Against Her</u>

A. Introduction

Ms. Tryon asserts the district court erred when it permitted the admission, through Detective Richardson, of Mr. Ringcamp's statements touching on the identity of the substance at issue. The admission of the statements violated Ms. Tryon's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against her. The district court determined there was no confrontation issue because Mr. Ringcamp's statements were nontestimonial. (*See* Tr., p.160, Ls.11-15.) However, Mr. Ringcamp's statements were actually testimonial, because the circumstances objectively indicate that the primary purpose of the interrogation in this case was to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. Because Ms. Tryon did not have a prior opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Ringcamp, his statements were inadmissible. The State will be unable to prove that the admission of Mr. Ringcamp's statements is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The Idaho Supreme Court has held, "[w]hether admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confront adverse witnesses under the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review." *State v. Stanfield*, 158 Idaho 327, 331 (2015).

C. <u>The Admission Of Mr. Ringcamp's Statements Violated Ms. Tryon's</u> <u>Constitutional Right To Confront The Witnesses Against Her</u>

Ms. Tryon asserts the admission of Mr. Ringcamp's statements violated her constitutional right to confront the witnesses against her.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of a criminal defendant "to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. "The right to confrontation is fundamental and applies equally to state prosecutions." *Stanfield*, 158 Idaho at 332 (citing *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 403 (1965)). The Idaho Supreme Court has noted, "[o]ur state constitution does not contain a confrontation clause similar to that found in the United States Constitution; therefore, this issue is analyzed solely under the United States Constitution." *Id.* (citing *State v. Sharp*, 101 Idaho 498, 502 (1980)).

According to the United States Supreme Court in *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the Confrontation Clause "applies to 'witnesses' against the accused in other words, those who 'bear testimony.'" *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51. The Idaho Supreme Court in *Stanfield* explained the United States Supreme Court "has determined that this language restricts the Confrontation Clause to testimonial hearsay." *Stanfield*, 158 Idaho at 332 (citing *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 823-24 (2006); *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51). The Confrontation Clause "only applies to statements that are 'testimonial,'" and "does not bar statements not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted." *Id.* (citing *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 823; *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51, 59 n.9). As discussed by the *Stanfield* Court, "[a]ny declaration, affirmation, omission, or nonverbal conduct made for the purpose of establishing some fact, qualifies as a statement." *Id.* "If the statement is testimonial, then its admission is permitted only if

the defendant is unavailable and the defendant has had a prior opportunity to crossexamine the defendant." *Id.* (citing *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59; *State v. Hooper*, 145 Idaho 139, 143 (2007)).

The United States Supreme Court in *Crawford* stated, "the principal evil at which the Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure, and particularly its use of *ex parte* examinations as evidence against the accused." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 50. After declaring the Confrontation Clause applied to "those who bear testimony," the *Crawford* Court defined "testimony" as "a solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." *Id.* at 51 (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted). The Confrontation Clause therefore "reflects an especially acute concern with a specific type of out-of-court statement." *Id.*

The United States Supreme Court in *Crawford* then described three formulations of this core class of testimonial statements: (1) "*ex parte* in-court testimony or its functional equivalent—that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine, or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially"; (2) "extrajudicial statements . . . contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions"; and (3) "statements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." *Id.* at 51-52 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The *Crawford* Court further held, "[s]tatements taken by police officers in the course of interrogations are also testimonial under even a narrow standard." *Id.* at 52.

Later, in *Davis*, the United States Supreme Court clarified that "[s]tatements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 822. "They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." *Id.*

Under the "primary purpose test" outlined in *Davis*, Mr. Ringcamp's statements were testimonial. Before Mr. Ringcamp gave the statements to Detective Richardson, the detective had already separated him from Ms. Tryon, placed him in custody, and put him in the back of the patrol vehicle. (See Tr., p.180, Ls.13-25, p.194, L.10 – p.195, L.17.) The record is devoid of any sign Detective Richardson's interrogation was intended to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. Rather. objectively viewed, the primary purpose of the interrogation was to investigate a possible crime, namely possession of a controlled substance. While the interrogation here was not as formal as the one in Crawford, which followed a Miranda warning, was tape-recorded, and took place at the station house, see 541 U.S. at 53 n.4, Detective Richardson's interrogation was formal enough in that it took place in his patrol vehicle and away from Ms. Tryon. See Davis, 547 U.S. at 830. Thus, the circumstances objectively indicate that the primary purpose of the interrogation in this case was to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. See id. at 822. Mr. Ringcamp's statements were testimonial.

The district court determined that there was no confrontation issue here because the holding in *United States v. Johnson*, 581 F.3d 320 (6th Cir. 2009), "probably applies to this as well." (*See* Tr., p.160, Ls.11-15). The district court was incorrect, because the circumstances in *Johnson* are readily distinguishable from those in the present case.

In Johnson, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit held, "[b]ecause [the declarant] did not know that his statements were being recorded and because it is clear that he did not anticipate them being used in a criminal proceeding against [the defendant], they are not testimonial, and the Confrontation Clause does not Johnson, 581 F.3d at 325. The declarant in Johnson unwittingly made his apply." statements to an FBI informant while both were at the same prison facility. See id. at 323. Additionally, the cases cited by the Johnson Court in support of its holding involved statements made under similar circumstances. See, e.g., United States v. Johnson, 440 F.3d 832, 843 (6th Cir. 2006) (holding that an unwitting declarant's secretly recorded statements to a close friend were nontestimonial); United States v. Mooneyham, 473 F.3d 280, 286-87 (6th Cir. 2007) (stating that a co-defendant's out-ofcourt statements to an undercover officer, whose status was unknown to the declarant, were nontestimonial); United States v. Watson, 525 F.3d 583, 589 (7th Cir. 2008) ("[A] statement unwittingly made to a confidential informant and recorded by the government is not 'testimonial' for Confrontation Clause purposes.")

The result in *Johnson* is also in accord with *Davis*, where the Court described the statements at issue in some pre-*Crawford* decisions of the United States Supreme Court as "clearly nontestimonial." *See Davis*, 547 U.S. at 825; see also *Bourjaily v.*

United States, 483 U.S. 171, 181-84 (1987) (statements made unwittingly to a Government informant); *Dutton v. Evans*, 400 U.S. 74, 87-89 (1970) (statements from one prisoner to another).

In contrast, Mr. Ringcamp did not make his statements to a friend or a confidential informant whose status was unknown to him. Rather, the circumstances show Mr. Ringcamp knew he was giving his statements to a law enforcement officer. Before he stopped the truck, Detective Richardson activated the emergency lights on his unmarked patrol vehicle. (*See* Tr., p.177, L.21 – p.178, L.13.) The detective later placed Mr. Ringcamp in custody and put him in the back of the patrol vehicle. (*See* Tr., p.180, Ls.13-25.) Thus, the circumstances in *Johnson* are readily distinguishable from those in the present case, and the *Johnson* holding does not control here.

In its arguments for why Mr. Ringcamp's statements were not testimonial, the State contended the statements were made to exculpate rather than inculpate Ms. Tryon. (See Tr., p.155, L.12 – p.156, L.8.) The State argued "the definition of testimonial is a statement made by the declarant where he could reasonably expect the statement would be used by the State to accuse a criminal defendant of a crime." (Tr., p.155, Ls.12-16.) The State further argued, "I don't think anyone at the time would have possibly guessed that the statement, 'that's my meth,' which is made purely to exculpate this particular defendant, would be used later to prove that it was meth." (Tr., p.155, Ls.16-21.)

However, the State's argument was based on an incorrect definition of "testimonial." As seen above, the United States Supreme Court has defined "testimony" as "a solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving

some fact." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51. Statements made in the course of a police interrogation "are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate . . . that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 822.

The United States Supreme Court's standards for what is "testimonial" do not contain any requirement that the statements at issue accuse or inculpate any particular defendant. In *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 (2009), a case where the United States Supreme Court addressed whether statements contained in forensic reports are "testimonial," the Court rejected the argument that the analysts who prepared the reports were "not subject to confrontation because they are not 'accusatory' witnesses, in that they do not directly accuse petitioner of wrongdoing; rather, their testimony is inculpatory only when taken together with other evidence linking petitioner to the contraband." *See Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 313. The Court explained that, to the extent the analysts were witnesses, "they certainly provided testimony against petitioner, proving one fact necessary for his conviction—that the substance he possessed was cocaine." *Id.*

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