Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-25-2017

State v. Tryon Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44489

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

Relying mainly on <u>Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts</u>, 557 U.S. 305 (2009), Tryon argues on appeal that because Detective Richardson's testimony about Ringcamp's statements was presented as an adoptive admission to help prove that the white crystalline substance seized from the Crown Royal bag was methamphetamine, it violated her confrontation rights because Ringcamp was not available for cross-examination at trial, nor had she been given a prior

⁵ On cross-examination during the hearing on the "confrontation" issue, Detective Richardson affirmed that he used "the exact verbiage whose meth is this." (Tr., p.162, Ls.11-13.)

opportunity to cross-examine him. (Appellant's Brief, pp.8-15.) Tryon's argument fails. Correct application of the law to the facts of this case supports the district court's determination that the challenged statements were not testimonial, and, therefore, their admission did not violate Tryon's confrontation rights.

2. <u>Legal Standards Applicable To The Confrontation Clause</u>

In Ohio v. Clark, 135 S.Ct. 2173, 2179-2180 (2015), the Supreme Court set out the

general landscape of Confrontation Clause law, which, although lengthy, warrants review:

The Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause, which is binding on the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." In *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56, 66 . . . (1980), we interpreted the Clause to permit the admission of out-of-court statements by an unavailable witness, so long as the statements bore "adequate 'indicia of reliability." Such indicia are present, we held, if "the evidence falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception" or bears "particularized guarantees of trustworthiness." *Ibid.*

In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 . . . (2004), we adopted a different approach. We explained that "witnesses," under the Confrontation Clause, are those "who bear testimony," and we defined "testimony" as "a solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." *Id.*, at 51 . . . (internal quotation marks and alteration omitted). The Sixth Amendment, we concluded, prohibits the introduction of testimonial statements by a nontestifying witness, unless the witness is "unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Id.*, at 54 Applying that definition to the facts in *Crawford*, we held that statements by a witness during police questioning at the station house were testimonial and thus could not be admitted. But our decision in *Crawford* did not offer an exhaustive definition of "testimonial" statements. Instead, *Crawford* stated that the label "applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a former trial; and to police interrogations." *Id.*, at 68

Our more recent cases have labored to flesh out what it means for a statement to be "testimonial." In *Davis v. Washington* ^[6] and *Hammon v. Indiana*, 547 U.S. 813 . . . (2006), which we decided together, we dealt with statements given to law enforcement officers by the victims of domestic abuse. The victim in *Davis* made statements to a 911 emergency operator during and shortly after her boyfriend's

⁶ See <u>Davis v. Washington</u>, 547 U.S. 813, 823 (2006).

violent attack. In *Hammon*, the victim, after being isolated from her abusive husband, made statements to police that were memorialized in a "battery affidavit." *Id.*, at 820....

We held that the statements in *Hammon* were testimonial, while the statements in *Davis* were not. Announcing what has come to be known as the "primary purpose" test, we explained: "Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." *Id.*, at 822 Because the cases involved statements to law enforcement officers, we reserved the question whether similar statements to individuals other than law enforcement officers would raise similar issues under the Confrontation Clause. *See id.*, at 823, n. 2

In *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344 . . . (2011), we further expounded on the primary purpose test. The inquiry, we emphasized, must consider "all of the relevant circumstances." *Id.*, at 369 And we reiterated our view in *Davis* that, when "the primary purpose of an interrogation is to respond to an 'ongoing emergency,' its purpose is not to create a record for trial and thus is not within the scope of the [Confrontation] Clause." 562 U.S., at 358 At the same time, we noted that "there may be other circumstances, aside from ongoing emergencies, when a statement is not procured with a primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony." *Ibid.* "[T]he existence *vel non* of an ongoing emergency is not the touchstone of the testimonial inquiry." *Id.*, at 374 Instead, "whether an ongoing emergency exists is simply one factor . . . that informs the ultimate inquiry regarding the 'primary purpose' of an interrogation." *Id.*, at 366

One additional factor is "the informality of the situation and the interrogation." *Id.*, at 377 . . . A "formal station-house interrogation," like the questioning in *Crawford*, is more likely to provoke testimonial statements, while less formal questioning is less likely to reflect a primary purpose aimed at obtaining testimonial evidence against the accused. *Id.*, at 366, 377 And in determining whether a statement is testimonial, "standard rules of hearsay, designed to identify some statements as reliable, will be relevant." *Id.*, at 358–359 . . . In the end, the question is whether, in light of all the circumstances, viewed objectively, the "primary purpose" of the conversation was to "creat[e] an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony." *Id.*, at 358 Applying these principles in *Bryant*, we held that the statements made by a dying victim about his assailant were not testimonial because the circumstances objectively indicated that the conversation was primarily aimed at quelling an ongoing emergency, not establishing evidence for the prosecution. Because the relevant statements were made to law enforcement officers, we again declined to decide whether the same

analysis applies to statements made to individuals other than the police. See id., at 357, n. 3

Thus, under our precedents, a statement cannot fall within the Confrontation Clause unless its primary purpose was testimonial. "Where no such primary purpose exists, the admissibility of a statement is the concern of state and federal rules of evidence, not the Confrontation Clause." *Id.*, at 359....

3. <u>Tryon's Statement Was Not "Testimonial" Because It Was Not Made For The</u> <u>Primary Purpose Of Creating Evidence For Trial</u>

Tryon argues that, "much like the testimony of the analysts in <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, which proved the substance was cocaine, Mr. Ringcamp's statements were against Ms. Tryon, helping to prove one fact necessary for her conviction – that the substance was methamphetamine." (Appellant's Brief, p.14.) Tryon's argument misses the main point in determining whether Ringcamp's statement is testimonial under the Confrontation Clause – whether the "primary purpose of the interrogation" was to create or develop evidence for a later trial.

In <u>State v. Stanfield</u>, 158 Idaho 327, 347 P.3d 175 (2015), the Idaho Supreme Court reviewed several United States Supreme Court Confrontation Clause cases pertaining to forensic reports, including <u>Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts</u>, 557 U.S. 305 (2009).⁷ According to <u>Stanfield</u>, in <u>Melendez-Diaz</u> "the trial court admitted three 'certificates of analysis' that cocaine was present in the bags of powder seized from the defendant. The certificates were sworn to before a notary by the analysts who conducted the testing." <u>Stanfield</u>, 158 Idaho at 333, 347

⁷ In <u>Stanfield</u>, the Idaho Supreme Court determined that the Confrontation Clause was not violated by a neuropathologist's expert testimony that the child-victim died from "non-accidental head trauma resulting from abuse," which testimony was based on a non-testifying lab technician's assertions that slides of brain tissue of the child (1) were labeled correctly, and (2) had the proper stain applied to samples in accordance with protocol, "thereby permitting an accurate interpretation of the samples." <u>Stanfield</u>, 158 Idaho at 330, 339, 347 P.3d at 178, 187. <u>Stanfield</u> held "that there was no Confrontation Clause violation because the technician's assertions were not made for an evidentiary purpose and thus were not testimonial. <u>Id.</u>, at 340, 347 P.3d at 188.

P.3d at 181. Addressing the "formality" requirement for a statement to be deemed "testimonial" under the Confrontation Clause, the United States Supreme Court concluded that "the certificates were testimonial because they were 'solemn declaration[s] or affirmation[s] made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact" and were "quite plainly affidavits." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, 557 U.S. at 310). In addressing the second requirement for being "testimonial" – the "primary purpose of the interrogation" -- <u>Melendez-Diaz</u> "noted that the governing statute provided that 'the *sole purpose* of the affidavits was to provide prima facie evidence of the composition, quality, and net weight of the analyzed substance." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis original) (quoting <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, 557 U.S. at 311).

Tryon correctly notes that the state's use of Ringcamp's statement to help prove that the white crystalline substance found in her purse was methamphetamine bears some similarity to the admission in <u>Melendez-Diaz</u> of sworn "certificates of analysis" by state lab analysts to prove the substance analyzed was cocaine. However, <u>Stanfield</u> pointed out that, in <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, the statements (i.e. reports by non-testifying analysts) were not only made "for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact at trial," <u>Stanfield</u>, 158 Idaho at 335, 347 P.3d at 183 (quoting <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, 557 U.S. at 324), but under Massachusetts law, "the *sole purpose* of the affidavits was to provide prima facie evidence of the composition, quality, and net weight of the analyzed substance," <u>id.</u> at 333, 347 P.3d at 181 (quoting <u>Melendez-Diaz</u>, 557 U.S. at 311) (emphasis original).

In contrast to the sworn certificates of analysis in <u>Melendez-Diaz</u> that had the sole purpose of being generated for admission into evidence, an objective review of the statements at issue in this case shows they were not elicited or made for the "primary purpose" of creating an "out-of-court substitute for trial testimony." <u>Bryant</u>, 562 U.S. at 358. As stated by the prosecutor, "I don't think anyone at the time would have possibly guessed that the statement, 'that's my meth,' which is made purely to exculpate this particular defendant, would be used later to prove that it was meth." (Tr., p.155, Ls.16-21.) Stated in legal terms, "the primary purpose of the interrogation," whether viewed from Detective Richardson's question, Ringcamp's answer, or both, was not to create a record for trial, or an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony, in order to prove that the substance found in Tryon's purse was, in fact, methamphetamine. <u>See Michigan v. Bryant</u>, 562 U.S. 344, 358 ("primary purpose of an interrogation"), 369 ("In determining whether a declarant's statements ae testimonial, courts should look to all of the relevant circumstances"); <u>Ohio v. Clark</u>, 135 S.Ct. 2173, 2179-2180 (2015) ("primary purpose of the interrogation"); <u>Davis v. Washington</u>, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006) (same).

In sum, because no reasonable person would have expected that Ringcamp's answer to Detective Richardson's question (whose meth is this?) would later be used as a substitute for testimony by a forensic scientist, such future use was not, under any objective evaluation, the "primary purpose of the interrogation."⁸ See Bryant, 562 U.S. at 359 ("We objectively evaluate the circumstances in which the encounter occurs and the statements and actions of the parties."); Stanfield, 158 Idaho at 337, 347 P.3d at 185 ("The only consistent requirement that can be distilled from these decisions is that in order for a statement – forensic or otherwise – to be deemed testimonial, it must have been made with a primary objective of creating an evidentiary record to establish or prove a fact at trial."). Therefore, the district court correctly concluded

⁸ During a discussion between the trial judge and counsel at the bench, held outside the hearing of the jury, when it became clear that the state was not going to present testimony by a "lab witness," Tryon's trial counsel exclaimed, "If they don't have a lab witness here, I don't know what the hell we're doing here." (Tr., p.133, L.25 – p.134, L.2.)

that Ringcamp's statement was not "testimonial" under the Confrontation Clause, and properly admitted it.

E. <u>Any Error Is Harmless</u>

A trial error can be declared harmless if the appellate court concludes on *de novo* review it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). To show harmless error the state has "the burden of showing that it was clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Premo v. Moore, 562 U.S. 115, 130 (2011) (internal quotations omitted). Where the error placed impermissible evidence, argument or information before the jury the Supreme Court has required the prosecution to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24 (admission of confession that should have been conviction. suppressed); Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 295-96 (1991) (argument for guilt from defendant's silence); Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622, 635 (2005) (visible shackles without cause at jury trial). An "otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986). In conjunction with the review of the whole record, review of the strength of the state's evidence is appropriate. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 16-20 (1999); see also Premo, 562 U.S. at 129-31. The analysis ultimately focuses "on the underlying fairness of the trial." Neder, 527 U.S. at 18-19.

At trial, the state presented circumstantial evidence to show that the white crystalline substance seized from Tryon's purse was methamphetamine. (Tr., p.133, Ls.2-24; p.147, Ls.2-9; p.166, Ls.9-12; p.193, Ls.10-11; p.236, L.11 – p.238, L.24.) In doing so, the state relied on <u>State</u> <u>v. Mitchell</u>, 130 Idaho 134, 136, 937 P.2d 960, 963 (Ct. App. 1997), which held "that

circumstantial evidence may be sufficient to prove the identity of a substance where laboratory analysis is not available."⁹ Due to the strength of the circumstantial evidence showing that the white crystalline substance found in Tryon's purse was methamphetamine, even if this Court finds error in the admission of Ringcamp's statements, it should conclude that, beyond a reasonable doubt, the statements did not contribute to the verdict.

Detective Richardson was highly trained and experienced in investigating methamphetamine crimes (including its appearance, smell, packaging (here: the corner of a small baggie which was melted closed), and means of ingestion (here: two pipes – one with tell-tale white burnt residue -- and two syringes). Moreover, Tryon's statement that she was not going to allow the officers to search her purse shows there was something more legally jeopardizing in her purse than marijuana -- since the marijuana pipe had already been taken from Tryon's person. Finally, the close proximity of the white crystalline substance to the two glass pipes and two syringes in Tryon's purse supports the only reasonable conclusion possible, that the substance found in Tryon's purse was methamphetamine.

For its response to Tryon's "harmless error" argument (see Appellant's Brief, pp.16-17), the state fully relies on its "Statement of Facts," pages 1 through 3 in this brief, and incorporated herein. Based on those facts, which were established through trial testimony, this Court should find that, beyond a reasonable doubt, any error in the admission of Ringcamp's statement did not contribute to Tryon's conviction and is, therefore, harmless. <u>See Chapman</u>, 386 U.S. at 24.

⁹ The state is unable to ascertain from the record why a "laboratory analysis" expert was not available for trial in this case.

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